IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA LATRENTA, individually, Plaintiffs/Appellants,

Appellants,

vs.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; and CARL WAGNER, Administrator inclusive, Electronically Filed Jul 17 2019 09:35 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown District Court Case No. A750520

Respondents.

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Summary judgment was entered in this matter by the District Court dismissing Appellant Ms. Latrenta's negligence claims on December 3, 2018. The Notice of Appeal was filed on December 27, 2018. APP310-312.¹ This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because the question presented is an issue of first impression. *See* NRAP 17(a)(11) and NRAP 17(a)(12). This Court is asked to decide whether negligence in the operation and management of a nursing home to include negligent decisions regarding staffing levels and staff schedules—decisions that led directly to a foreseeable fatal mistake made by one of the staff members—generates direct liability in the decision-maker. This Court is further asked whether there exists a legal difference under Nevada law between the mistaken administration of a drug arising out of an error in professional discretion, and the mistaken administration of a drug in the circumstance of its *administration to the admittedly wrong person*. These issues are best resolved by the Supreme Court because they represent matters of statewide importance; to avoid inconsistent application and interpretation by lower courts; and to afford certainty to

¹ Appellants Appendix, hereinafter "APP____".

those who are typically involved with drafting and bringing claims for injuries caused by professional negligence, and claims for injuries caused by the abuse, neglect or exploitation suffered by an older or vulnerable person pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. 41.1395.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Do allegations that a nursing home conglomerate under budgeted, understaffed, and otherwise mismanaged resources and staff at a nursing home, such that medical errors were bound to occur, constitute a direct cause of action, thereby providing a theory of recovery independent of the affidavit-of-merit requirement of NRS 41A.071?

2. Is giving prescribed medication to the wrong nursing home resident an instance of professional negligence simply because the care-giver at the nursing home happens to be a provider of health care as defined in NRS 41A.071?

3. Are nursing homes entitled to the protections of the affidavit-of-merit requirement, notwithstanding the fact that the legislature has specifically declined to extend NRS 41A.071 to nursing homes, and despite the existence of a separate statute (NRS 41.1395) enacted to provide greater protections to the older and vulnerable populations of Nevada?

4. Is giving a patient un-prescribed medication an instance of *res ipsa loquitur*?

2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal pertains to allegations of nursing home abuse and neglect filed as a Complaint in the District Court of Clark County, Nevada. Appellant Laura Latrenta ("Laura Latrenta" or "Ms. Latrenta") appeals an Order entered on December 7, 2018 (APP289-297), granting summary judgment to Appellees South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership; Life Care Centers of America, Inc.; and Carl Wagner (collectively, "LCC"), to which a timely Notice of Appeal was filed. The initial complaint was filed on February 2, 2017.² APP001-8. Answer was filed on March 3, 2017. APP012-19. On September 10, 2017, the case was consolidated with a related case before the district court, Case No. A-17-754013-C, against Defendant Samir Saxena, M.D. On May 1, 2018, Annabelle Socaoco, N.P.; IPC Healthcare, Inc. aka The Hospitalist Company, Inc., Inpatient Consultants of Nevada, Inc.; IPC Healthcare Services of Nevada, Inc.; and Hospitalists Of Nevada, Inc. were added as defendants with Defendant Samir Saxena, M.D. (collectively referred to as "IPC parties").³ On January 7, 2019, this

² Appellant stipulated to the dismissal of nursing home administrator Bina Hribik Portello on July 6, 2017.

³ The IPC parties are not parties to this appeal because the final judgment was entered against only the LCC defendants. However, Appellant Laura Latrenta anticipates filing a notice of appeal of a recent decision in favor of, and dismissing, the IPC parties.

appeal was assigned to the NRAP 16 Settlement Program; but the parties were unable to reach settlement, and this appeal was returned to the appellate docket.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 7, 2016, Nevada nursing home, Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, administered to nursing home resident Mary Curtis, morphine not prescribed for her. This fact is uncontested, and was so found as a fact by the lower court. APP290. More specifically, on that day, after a shift at the facility had already begun, Licensed Practical Nurse Esheila Dawson, was called into work to add a nurse to the shift. She did not have familiarity with the residents of the wing for which she was *ad hoc* assigned, and her supervisors pressured her to move quickly with passing medication in a "chaotic" situation. In this circumstance, Nurse Dawson gave Mary Curtis someone else's dose of morphine. (*See id;* APP 130-131).

The nursing home failed to timely address its mistake in administering the drug. The facility received an order for Narcan to attempt to block the effects of the morphine, but, despite having just administered a large dose of an un-prescribed narcotic to a resident, the nursing home staff affirmatively declined to send Mary Curtis to hospital. The staff chose not send Mary out even thought they were aware of the danger posed to her, doubtlessly aware of the nursing home conglomerate's drive to reduce resident return-to-hospital and to increase census. *See* APP191-193.

Due to the short staffing of the Certified Nurse's Assistant ("CNA") staff, the nursing home failed to properly monitor Mary Curtis thereafter. Around 11:00 a.m. the day after the erroneous morphine dosage, Laura Latrenta came to check on her mother, only to find her unresponsive and with her mouth hanging open. APP184. According to Mary Curtis's roommate, Mary had been "out of it," yet no one had come to check on Mary all day. (*Id.*) Subsequently, after EMS had been called and Mary Curtis transported to hospital, she was diagnosed with anoxic brain encephalopathy and died. Her death certificate identifies as her immediate cause of death as morphine intoxication. APP210. These matters, along with instances where the nursing home permitted Mary Curtis to fall and injure herself (APP165-167), were the subject of Ms. Latrenta's Complaint in the Clark County District Court, as recounted below.

On February 2, 2017, Ms. Latrenta filed a Complaint against LCC, the nursing home and its operators, managers, and administrators, alleging abuse/neglect of Ms. Latrenta's mother Mary Curtis under Nevada's elder abuse statute, wrongful death and breach of contract. Specifically, Ms. Latrenta's Complaint alleged (1) abuse/neglect of an older person falling under Nevada's elder abuse statute, NRS 41.1395, (2) wrongful death, on behalf of the Estate of Mary Curtis (NRS 41.0185), (3) wrongful death on behalf of Laura Latrenta herself (NRS 41.0185), and (4) a bad faith tort. APP001-8. These claims were largely premised on LCC's

negligent management and operation of the nursing home that led to, *inter alia*, preventable falls and injuries, the erroneous administration of morphine (prescribed for another resident), and the failure to treat and monitor Mary Curtis as the morphine took her life.

The lower court nonetheless granted summary judgment in favor of LCC because Ms. Latrenta did not file an affidavit-of-merit pursuant to NRS 41A.071, concurrently with her Complaint. Despite finding that LCC Licensed Practical Nurse Esheila Dawson had mistakenly delivered morphine to Mary Curtis prescribed for another resident, the lower court also made this finding:

The Court finds that Defendants' liability is based on the acts (LPN Dawson's administration of morphine to Mary Curtis) and omissions (failure to monitor Mary Curtis thereafter) of its nursing staff. LPN Dawson and the other nursing staff monitoring Ms. Curtis are providers of health care pursuant to NRS 41A.017. Said acts and omission are a provision of medical services which give rise to Defendants' liability. Therefore, the provisions of NRS Chapter 41A apply.

APP292-293. The lower court then came to this conclusion:

The administration of morphine by an LPN and failure to monitor the effects of the administration of morphine is a claim of professional negligence requiring an affidavit pursuant to NRS 41A.071. * * * As the gravamen of Plaintiffs' allegations sounds in professional negligence NRS Chapter 41A applies to all of Plaintiffs' claims to the exclusion of NRS 41.1395.

APP295.

In other words, the lower court found and concluded that LCC's liability was

for indirect, *i.e.*, vicarious liability, a liability based solely on the acts and omissions

of its nursing staff. Evidence of the under budgeting, understaffing, and all-around poor management of the existing staff, making the job of Nurse Dawson and those tasked with monitoring the residents (the CNA staff) virtually impossible to perform without tragic errors, were ignored by the lower court as potential bases for the cause of action. The lower court in effect concluded as a matter of law that no other facts bore upon, or could give rise to, LCC's liability—not understaffing, not operational errors in staff scheduling, not corporate awareness of the nursing home's past problems with improperly administering medication ("passing meds")—and the lower court did not address Ms. Latrenta's evidence of direct liability or falls at the facility whatsoever in its Order.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is Ms. Latrenta's position that the lower court erred in dismissing the Complaint, and this Court must therefore reverse the lower court. Her position rests upon four grounds: First, operational decisions of the owner/managers of the LCC nursing home constituted the proximate cause for the mistaken drug administration. Thus, the actual gravamen of the Complaint subsists in direct as well as vicarious liability against LCC (inasmuch as corporate acts issue through agents), and in ordinary as opposed to professional negligence.

Second, Nurse Dawson's mistake in delivering morphine was also one of ordinary negligence, to which the requirements of NRS 41A.071 do not apply. She

did not render any medical or professional judgment in deciding to deliver the morphine in error. Rather, being in a rush due to the scheduling pressures placed on her by the nursing home (*See* APP171-179), she recklessly misidentified to whom the drug was prescribed, and gave morphine to the wrong person.

Third, applying the requirement for an affidavit-of-merit, NRS 41A.071, to this circumstance here would impermissibly eviscerate the protections of NRS 41.1395. This latter statute is directed to, among other things, preventing elder neglect and abuse in Nevada nursing homes. There have been no alterations in Nevada law directed to reducing the elder abuse statute's protections nor to adding requirements shielding Nevada's nursing homes. Finally, even if giving the wrong drug to the wrong person could be construed as a medical or nursing negligence, it was an instance of malpractice *res ipsa loquitur*, codified in NRS 41A.100.

LEGAL ANALYSIS AND ARGUMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court reviews a summary judgment order *de novo*. *Butler ex rel. Biller v. Bayer*, 168 P.3d 1055, 1061 (Nev. 2007) (*citing Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (Nev. 2002)). Summary judgment should only be granted by a district court when, after reviewing the pleadings and discovery on file, and viewing them in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. NRCP 56(c); *see also Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 22 P.3d 209, 211 (Nev. 2001) (*citing Butler v. Bogdanovich*, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (Nev. 1985)). A genuine issue of material fact exists where the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Valley Bank of Nevada v. Marble*, 775 P.2d 1278, 1279 (Nev. 1989).

In truth, the lower court's Order should have been styled as one for dismissal, as opposed to summary judgment. While presentation of matters outside the pleadings will convert a motion to dismiss to one for summary judgment, such a conversion is not triggered by a court's "consideration of matters incorporated by reference or integral to the claim," 5B Charles Alan Wright & Arthur Miller, *Federal Practice & Procedure: Civil* § 1357 at 376 (3d ed. 2004). "An order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss 'is subject to a rigorous standard of review on appeal." *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (Nev. 2008) (*quoting Seput v. Lacavo*, 134 P.3d 733, 734 (Nev. 2006)). Certainly the need and omission of an affidavit-of-merit in the Mary Curtis Complaint is a question integral to this claim.

I. Allegations of understaffing and negligent management of the existing staff at Life Care Center constitute a direct liability claim sounding in ordinary negligence, not in professional negligence.⁴

If the lower court had looked only at the pleadings of the Complaint, certainly Ms. Latrenta pleaded a direct cause of action against LCC.

⁴ This argument was preserved below (*See e.g.*, APP220).

* * * [T]hey controlled the budget for said Defendant which *impacted resident care*, collected accounts receivable, prepared audited financial statements, contracted with various vendors for services, and *provided direct oversight for said Defendants in terms of financial and patient care responsibility*.

APP002, (emphasis added).

As a *direct and proximate* result willful negligence and intentional and unjustified conduct, Ms. Curtis suffered significant injuries and death. Defendants' conduct was a direct consequence the motive and plans set forth herein, and Defendants are guilty malice, oppression, recklessness, and fraud, an award punitive and exemplary damages.

APP005 (emphasis added). Ms. Latrenta argued and marshalled a large weight of evidence going to prove up this direct cause of action. *See e.g.*, APP126-213. She even produced a warning letter to the LCC President Beecher Hunter and CEO Forrest Preston warning of medication errors being "covered up" at the facility, but to no avail. APP212-213.

Ms. Latrenta did not file an action against Nurse Dawson. She brought action against LCC, and none of the entities of LCC are covered under the definition of "provider of health care" pursuant to NRS 41A.017. They are however one of the main concerns of Nevada's elder abuse and neglect statute, NRS 41.1395. The lower court noted that it "should look to the nature of the grievance to determine the character of the action, not the form of the pleadings." APP293. This is a correct statement of the law, but unfortunately, the lower court went astray through clever argumentation by LCC. The actual "nature of the grievance," as shown by the evidence proffered (*See* APP126-163) should have convinced the lower court that there was a direct cause of action for elder abuse and neglect and for wrongful death, but LCC's position throughout has been deceptively simple: Mary Curtis' death certificate lists morphine intoxication. Morphine is a commonly prescribed medication. Ersheila Dawson was a nurse. Ergo, an affidavit-of-merit was required. That is, LCC has taken the position that Ms. Latrenta's only theory of liability against it subsists solely in liability vicarious to that of Nurse Dawson and the other professional staff at the facility.

Not so.

As an initial point, this oversimplification simply ignores Ms. Latrenta's allegations regarding the falls and other injuries suffered by Mary Curtis. These other injuries have nothing to do with the morphine administration. They are related to the failure to ensure that an adequate number of properly trained staff were at the nursing home to meet the residents' needs.

Moreover, the mechanism of an injury does not dictate the cause of action. The legal concept of proximate cause assesses the relationship between the causes in the chain of causation, with the effect, to assign blame to the most properly blameworthy. Proximate cause stands next to the effect "not necessarily in time or space but in causal relation." *See* BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1225 (6th ed. 1990).

11

First, as an initial point, the CNA staff are not professionals listed under NRS 41A.015. More importantly, LCC twists the nature of the primary allegations against them, which are allegations of direct negligence. Even if it were true that Nurse Dawson's mistake constituted a professional negligence to which an affidavit-of-merit would normally be required to bring action (a point which Ms. Latrenta obviously contests, see argument above and below), it would still have been error for the lower court to dismiss LCC for the lack of affidavit. Ms. Latrenta has alleged that LCC under budgeted and understaffed its facilities. This under budgeting and understaffing, along with the poor management of the existing nursing home staff, were the real cause behind both Nurse Dawson giving the wrong resident morphine and the CNAs' failure to monitor. These direct managerial decisions were the proximate cause for Mary Curtis's damages.

This is not artful pleading. Laura Latrenta is blaming LCC for what the latter did and what the latter failed to do. The lower court's citation to *Symborski v. Spring Mountain Treatment Center*, 403 P.3d 1280 (Nev. 2017), and *Brown v. Mt. Grant Gen. Hosp.*, 2013 WL 4523488 (D. Nev.), describing Nevada law's laudable predilection for elevating substance over form in reading pleadings, was thus misplaced. This is a direct action claim directed toward decisions regarding operation, management, and staffing of a nursing home, and such are not matters of professional negligence in this instance.

Those theories must reach the jury as Ms. Latrenta has framed and supported them, not as others might wish them to be. In Morrow v. Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings, LLC, 773 S.E.2d 144, 146 (S.C. 2015), a South Carolina trial court bifurcated a nursing home's negligence from that of its owning corporate structure. The plaintiffs in that case had alleged that staffing decisions were the root cause of injury to their nursing home resident family member. By bifurcating however, the trial court in effect ruled that the owning corporation's potential liability was vicarious. Succinctly, such a bifurcation would mean that the cause of action against the corporation would automatically fail if the cause of action against the nursing home conglomerate failed. The Supreme Court of South Carolina ultimately determined that the trial court had misapprehended the nature of the plaintiffs' claims against the defendants and reversed the lower court's order confirming the The Morrow plaintiffs' claims against the nursing home same. *Id.* at 147. corporation were independent and direct, and not simply vicarious. "[D]irect corporate liability attaches due to a breach of a duty which runs directly between a parent company and a patient, arising from negligence in actions such as leaving a hospital underfunded, understaffed, or undertrained so as to provide substandard care." Id. at 146; see also Montgomery Health Care Facility, Inc. v. Ballard, 565 So.2d 221, 225–26 (Ala.1990) (finding parent corporation of nursing home could be held liable for patient's death where corporation controlled day-to-day operations of home). By bifurcating the case, the South Carolina trial court was "prevent[ing] [plaintiffs] from being architects of their own complaint, and deprives them of bringing their case against the defendant of their own choosing"). *Morrow v. Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings*, 773 S.E.2d at 146.

Laura Latrenta's allegations here are similar. Ms. Latrenta has alleged that LCC's decisions regarding staffing, staff management, resource allocation, budgeting, and send-to-hospital policy, are at the root of Mary Curtis's death. Ms. Latrenta has alleged that the CNAs' failure to monitor Nurse Dawson's medication mistake were also the function of LCC's negligent supervision, and of a staff overtaxed in terms of numbers of personnel and resources available. These allegations as to how LCC handled its staff and staffing numbers are allegations involving ordinary negligence, rather than professional negligence. Accordingly, Ms. Latrenta was not required to file an affidavit-of-merit for her direct liability claims against LCC.

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