Case No. 77810

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA LATRENTA, individually,

Appellants,

vs.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; and CARL WAGNER, Administrator, inclusive,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 16 2019 10:54 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable MICHAEL VILLANI, District Judge
District Court Case No. A750520

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly dismissed plaintiffs' action for failure to file a supporting medical expert affidavit. NRS 41A.071 provides that an action for professional negligence that is filed without an affidavit must be dismissed. This is a necessary tool for triaging the merit of claims of professional negligence, as well as those that purport to be claims of corporate or ordinary negligence but that in substance allege the negligence of some medical provider. At this stage of the litigation, a district judge can easily see whether the complaint is filed in good faith based upon competent expert medical opinion. The district judge's discretion in enforcing this preliminary marker of merit does not predetermine all aspects of the litigation, including the application of

the noneconomic-damages cap in NRS 41A.035: a plaintiff who properly files the medical-expert affidavit could ultimately prevail, after discovery and a trial on the merits, prevail on a theory other than professional negligence. But at the outset, the district court acts reasonably in requiring a complaint that appears to be founded on an allegation of professional negligence to include the affidavit that NRS 41A.071 requires.

To effectuate NRS 41A.071's purpose, this Court delineated the following rule: a claim is for professional negligence when the gravamen—the substantial point or essence—of its allegations involves medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment, regardless of how the claim is pleaded. Applying that rule, the district court correctly found that plaintiffs' complaint stated claims of professional negligence: Nurse Dawson administering the wrong medication during a course of treatment, and life Care Center's licensed nurses thereafter failing to properly monitor Ms. Curtis. Because plaintiffs did not file an affidavit under NRS 41A.071, dismissal was proper.

Enforcing NRS 41A.071 does not "eviscerate" Nevada's elderabuse statute, as plaintiffs argue. The district court did not hold that

claims against nursing homes always implicate NRS Chapter 41A to the exclusion of NRS 41.1395. Nor did the Legislature intend to categorically exclude professional negligence in nursing homes, as plaintiffs insist. Instead, as the district court properly recognized, plaintiffs may not rely upon NRS 41.1395 to circumvent NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement.

Finally, none of the statutorily enumerated exceptions apply to excuse plaintiffs from filing an affidavit. NRS 41A.100(1) codified the res ipsa loquitur doctrine and provides that, under five specific circumstances, negligence may be presumed without an expert affidavit. Plaintiffs' complaint never alleged res ipsa loquitur. Further, none of those circumstances are present here, and plaintiffs fail to present any evidence of the same.

This Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

Standard of review: Legal issues are reviewed de novo. *Dolorfino v*.

¹ Plaintiffs improperly argue for the first time on appeal that "the lower court's Order should have been styled as one for dismissal, as opposed to summary judgment." (AOB at 9); *Dolores v. State, Emp't Security Div.*, 134 Nev. 258, 261, 416 P.3d 259, 262 (2018) ("Issues not argued")

Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nev., 134 Nev., Adv. Op. 79, 427 P.3d 1039, 1040 (2018). This Court also "review[s] a district court order granting summary judgment de novo." Boesiger v. Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev., Adv. Op. 25, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (2019). "Pursuant to NRCP 56, a party may properly move for summary judgment where the party establishes that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and

below are deemed to have been waived and will not considered on appeal."). Plaintiffs cite the rule on converting a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment (AOB at 9), but Life Care Center did not bring a motion to dismiss, just a motion for summary judgement. (1) App. 29-125.) Thus, the district court did not convert Life Care Center's motion. Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court."). Finally, regardless of which standard of review this Court applies, the district court properly dismissed plaintiffs' claims for failure to satisfy NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement. Bongiovi v. Sullivan, 122 Nev. 556, 575, n.44, 138 P.3d 433, 447, n.44 (2006) "However, we affirm the district court's decision if it reaches the right result, even if for the wrong reasons."). As the deadline for plaintiffs to refile this action with an expert affidavit had passed, it makes no practical difference whether the judgment is a dismissal without prejudice or summary judgment. See Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 1298, 1300, 148 P.3d 790, 792 (2006) ("We conclude that, under NRS 41A.071, a complaint filed without a supporting medical expert affidavit is void ab initio and must be dismissed. Because a void complaint does not legally exist, it cannot be amended."); see also NRS 41A.097 (providing that statute of limitations to file a claim for professional negligence is one year after the plaintiff discovers the injury).

the party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id*.

"The substantive law controls which factual disputes are material and will preclude summary judgment; other factual disputes are irrelevant." Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon, 133 Nev. 740, 742, 405 P.3d 641, 643 (2017) (internal quotation marks omitted). To survive summary judgment, the nonmoving party must "do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the operative facts" and "is not entitled to build a case on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation, and conjecture." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 732, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005) (internal quotation marks omitted).

T.

PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO FILE A SUPPORTING MEDICAL EXPERT AFFIDAVIT

A. NRS 41A.071 Helps Courts Triage Cases that Allege a Medical Provider's Negligence

Prior to 2002, health care providers were facing an insurance crisis in Nevada based upon exorbitant premiums, causing them to leave Nevada. *Zohar v. Zbiegien*, 130 Nev. 733, 737, 334 P.3d 402, 405 (2014). In 2002, "[t]he Legislature addressed the medical malpractice

insurance crisis, in part, by capping noneconomic damages, requiring settlement conferences, and supplanting the existing malpractice screening panels with the expert affidavit requirement under NRS 41A.071." *Id.* And, "NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement was implemented to lower costs, reduce frivolous lawsuits, and ensure that [professional negligence] actions are filed in good faith based upon competent expert medical opinion." *Id.* at 738, 334 P.3d at 405.

NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement is thus a preliminary tool for district court judges to triage cases that, on their face, present issues of professional negligence. And to effectuate the Legislature's intent and preclude plaintiffs from circumventing the affidavit requirement, this Court has delineated the following rule: if the gravamen of a claim entails medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment, then the claim is for professional negligence, which in turn requires a supporting expert affidavit. By statute, therefore, a complaint that alleges professional negligence does not survive dismissal simply by alleging facts that, if true, would entitle the plaintiff to relief. If a complaint alleging professional negligence is filed without an expert affidavit, the complaint is treated as if it never existed and is dismissed.

The rule prevent a plaintiff from artfully restyling claims for professional negligence as claims for ordinary negligence to avoid seeking an affidavit.

This case is a prime example. As discussed immediately below, the gravamen of plaintiffs' claims is for professional negligence—Ms. Curtis was prescribed incorrect medication during a course of treatment and that Life Care Center's licensed nurses failed to properly monitor Ms. Curtis thereafter—yet plaintiffs pleaded their claims as corporate negligence and elder abuse to avoid NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement. The district court recognized the artful pleading and recognized that plaintiffs needed to attach an expert affidavit. In refusing to excuse plaintiffs' violation of NRS 41A.071, the district court did not speak to the merits of plaintiffs' claims. This Court should affirm.

B. No Matter How a Claim is Pleaded, if the Gravamen of the Claim, When Considered Under the Totality of Circumstances, Involves Medical Judgment or Treatment, then It Is for Professional Negligence

An action for professional negligence must include a supporting expert affidavit to survive dismissal. This ensures that claims for professional negligence are based upon competent medical expert

opinion, saving litigation costs and court resources.² NRS 41A.071. "Professional negligence" is "the failure of a provider of health care, in rendering services, to use the reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of health care." NRS 41A.015. In turn, a "provider of health care" includes a "licensed nurse." NRS 41A.017.

Failure to file an affidavit pursuant to NRS 41A.071 renders the complaint "void ab initio." *Peck v. Zipf*, 133 Nev. 890, 892, 407 P.3d 775, 778 (2017) (internal quotation marks omitted); *Wheble v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 128 Nev. 119, 123, 272 P.3d 134, 137 (2012) ("Here, because the plaintiffs' complaint was dismissed for failure to comply with NRS 41A.071, the complaint never legally existed, and because the complaint never existed, the action was never 'commenced.").

_

² "The 2015 Legislature amended NRS 41A.071 to substitute 'professional negligence' for 'medical malpractice' and repealed NRS 41A.009." *Zhang v. Barnes*, Docket No. 67219, 2016 WL 4926325, 382 P.3d 878, at *4 n.2 (Nev. Sept. 12, 2016) (Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part, and Remanding). Thus, for consistency and accuracy, this brief replaces references to "medical malpractice" with "professional negligence."

1. Professional Negligence Encompasses Negligence in Medical Judgment, Diagnosis, or Treatment

When determining whether a claim is for professional or ordinary negligence, this Court "look[s] to the gravamen or 'substantial point or essence' of each claim rather than its form." *Szymborski v. Spring Mountain Treatment Ctr.*, 133 Nev. 638, 643, 403 P.3d 1280, 1285 (2017). And, the gravamen of a claim is for professional negligence when the "[a]llegations of breach of duty involve[s] medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment." *Id.* at 642, 403 P.3d at 1284.

Facilities that offer health care provider services, however, will often also offer services by non-health care providers, such as social workers. Compare DeBoer v. Sr. Bridges of Sparks Fam. Hosp., 128

Nev. 406, 411, 282 P.3d 727, 731 (2012) ("Aside from the wide range of medical services healthcare-based facilities provide, they also offer diverse nonmedical services to the public, including, but not limited to, aftercare planning with social workers."), with NRS 41A.017 (defining "[p]rovider of health care" to include "licensed nurses"). Because these services by non-health care providers "do not involve medical judgment, treatment, or diagnosis," they are subject to ordinary negligence

standards. *Szymborski*, 133 Nev. at 641, 403 P.3d at 1284.

2. An Allegation that a Licensed Nurse Administered the Wrong Medication is a Claim of Professional, Not Ordinary, Negligence

A health care provider's administration of medication during a course of treatment, even if the medication was incorrect, is quintessentially a matter of professional negligence for NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement. See NRS 41A.015 ("Professional negligence" means the failure of a provider of health care, in rendering services, to use reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of health care." (emphasis added)); see also Speaks v. Vishnuvardhan Rao, 117 N.E.3d 661, 673 (Ind. Ct. App. 2018) (concluding that a claim against a doctor and hospital staff for administering the wrong medication "boil[s] down to a question of whether a given course of treatment was medically proper and within the appropriate standard, which is the quintessence of a malpractice case" (internal quotation marks omitted)); Graham v. Rite Aid Corp., Docket No. 240500, 2003 WL 21079858, at *2 (Mich. Ct. App. May 13, 2003) ("We conclude . . . that defendant's negligence in dispensing the wrong medication occurred within the

course of its professional relationship with plaintiff. Because the issues in this case involve dispensing prescriptions, they raise questions involving medical judgment and are therefore medical malpractice claims."); *Rejman v. Shang*, No. 2:15-CV-367-JCM-GWF, 2016 WL 4216781, at *2-3 (D. Nev. Aug. 8, 2016) (acknowledging that an allegedly unconsented to administration of medicine by a nurse is a matter of professional negligence).

The Georgia Court of Appeal's holding in *Grady General Hosp. v.**King is instructive:

[W]e review a nurse's administration of medication as within the scope of nursing duties involving professional skill and judgment. For example, whether the medication was "wrong" or "incorrect" necessarily involves professional judgment. Accordingly, because the administration of medication involves the professional skill and judgment of a nurse, and nurses are licensed professionals..., we hold that the plaintiffs' claim for failing to properly administer [the patient's] medication is a claim of professional negligence.

653 S.E.2d 367, 368 (Ga. Ct. App. 2007) (emphasis added) ("The practice of nursing is recognized as a profession subject to its own general standards of care and qualifications.").

3. An Allegation that a Licensed Nurse Failed to Properly Monitor a Patient is a Claim of Professional, Not Ordinary, Negligence

This Court has likewise held that a health care provider's failure to monitor a patient is a matter of professional negligence. In *Lewis v. Renown Regional Medical Center*, the plaintiff sued a medical facility for both professional negligence and abuse and neglect of a vulnerable person in violation of NRS 41.1395. Docket No. 74300, 2018 WL 6721372, 432 P.3d 201, at *1 (Nev. Dec. 18, 2018) (Order of Affirmance). The district court dismissed plaintiff's suit, including the abuse-and-neglect claim, "finding that all of his claims sounded in professional negligence and were time barred by NRS 41A.097(2)'s one year statute of limitations." *Id.*

Plaintiff appealed the dismissal of his claim for abuse and neglect under NRS 41.1395, arguing that that claim "is distinct from his claim for professional negligence because the claim for abuse and neglect alleges that [defendant] failed to provide a vulnerable person [] with services required to maintain her physical and mental health in violation of NRS 41.1395, whereas his professional negligence claim alleged that [defendant] breached its duty to [plaintiff's wife] by

rendering substandard care." Id.

This Court rejected plaintiff's argument, and in examining the gravamen of plaintiff's abuse and neglect claim, concluded that the alleged abuse was really just the failure to monitor in the course of medical treatment:

The gravamen of [plaintiff's] claim for abuse and neglect is that [defendant] failed to adequately care for [plaintiff] by failing to monitor her. Put differently, [defendant] breached its duty to provide care to [plaintiff] by failing to check on her every hour per the monitoring order in place. . . . [Plaintiff's] allegations that [defendant] failed to check on [plaintiff] while she was under a monitoring order necessarily involves a claim for a breach of duty in the administration of medical treatment or judgment.

Id. at *2 (emphasis added).

4. Professional Negligence is Considered under the Totality of the Conduct Alleged, Not One Discrete Act in a Vacuum

"Professional negligence" is "the failure of a provider of health care, in rendering services, to use the reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of health care." NRS 41A.015 (emphasis added). And, courts have broadly interpreted language similar to NRS 41A.015 to hold that "a negligent act that occurs in the

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